ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE No. 208, June 1998

ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL CRISES AND TRANSFORMATIONS IN SIXTEENTH-CENTURY EUROPE

CHARLES P. KINDLEBERGER



INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS
PRINCETON UNIVERSITY
PRINCETON, NEW JERSEY

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE are published by the International Finance Section of the Department of Economics of Princeton University. The Section sponsors this series of publications, but the opinions expressed are those of the authors. The Section welcomes the submission of manuscripts for publication in this and its other series. Please see the Notice to Contributors at the back of this Essay.

The author of this Essay, Charles P. Kindleberger, is Ford International Professor of Economics, Emeritus, at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, where he taught for thirty-three years. Prior to joining the faculty at MIT, Professor Kindleberger served in the Federal Reserve system, the Bank for International Settlements, the Office of Strategic Services, the U.S. Army, and the Department of State. Professor Kindleberger has written a number of books, including *The World in Depression*, 1929–1939 (2nd ed., 1986), Manias, Panics and Crashes: A History of Financial Crises (3rd ed., 1996), and A Financial History of Western Europe (2nd ed., 1993). This is his seventh contribution to the publications of the International Finance Section.

PETER B. KENEN, Director International Finance Section

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE No. 208, June 1998

ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL CRISES AND TRANSFORMATIONS IN SIXTEENTH-CENTURY EUROPE

CHARLES P. KINDLEBERGER



INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS
PRINCETON UNIVERSITY
PRINCETON, NEW JERSEY

INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION EDITORIAL STAFF

Peter B. Kenen, Director Margaret B. Riccardi, Editor Sharon B. Ernst, Editorial Aide Lalitha H. Chandra, Subscriptions and Orders

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Kindleberger, Charles Poor, 1910-

Economic and financial crises and transformations in sixteenth-century Europe / Charles P. Kindleberger.

p. cm. — (Essays in international finance; no. 208)

Includes bibliographical references.

ISBN 0-88165-115-X

1. Financial crises—Europe—History—16th century. 2. Business cycles—Europe— History—16th century. 3. International finance—Europe—History—16th century. I. Title. II. Series.

HB3782.K56 1998

330.94'0232-dc21

98-8559

CIP

Copyright © 1998 by International Finance Section, Department of Economics, Princeton University.

All rights reserved. Except for brief quotations embodied in critical articles and reviews, no part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means, including photocopy, without written permission from the publisher.

Printed in the United States of America by Princeton University Printing Services at Princeton, New Jersey

International Standard Serial Number: 0071-142X International Standard Book Number: 0-88165-115-X Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 98-8559

CONTENTS

1	MONEY: FROM GOLD TO SILVER	2
	The Expanded Money Supply	
	Monetary Movements	2 4 5
	The Debasement of Coinage	5
	Inflation	7
2	FAIRS: FROM GOODS TO CREDIT INSTRUMENTS	8
	The Fairs of Spain	ç
	Movements of Fairs and Merchants	10
3	THE SHIFT OF TRADE NORTH	11
	Venice	12
	Leghorn	12
4	BANKING: FROM THE FUGGERS TO THE GENOESE	13
	The Fuggers	13
	Lyons and the Grand Parti	15
	St. Quentin and the Rise of the Genoese	16
	Religious Wars and Emigration North	17
5	CREDIT INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL MARKETS	18
	The Grand Parti	18
	Rentes	18
6	CONCLUSION	19
	APPENDIX	21
	REFERENCES	24

ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL CRISES AND TRANSFORMATIONS IN SIXTEENTH-CENTURY EUROPE

Financial revolutions in Europe have been ascribed to the Italian innovation of the bill of exchange in the thirteenth century and to the British ordering of government debt at the end of the seventeenth and beginning of the eighteenth centuries. Less attention has been paid to the series of financial crises and ensuing transformations in the sixteenth century, occurring especially in the 1550s and involving at least five broad and parallel changes in national and international finance:

- (1) In money, annual increments to the money supply came to be dominated by silver, rather than gold, after the discovery of the New World
- (2) In fairs, meetings of merchants trading primarily in goods yielded to fairs of merchant bankers specializing in finance.
- (3) In trade, primacy shifted from the Mediterranean to the Atlantic and the North Sea.
- (4) In banking, the Age of the Fuggers yielded to the Age of the Genoese.
- (5) In finance more generally, credit instruments and capital markets became more sophisticated.

The century saw discoveries of precious metals and numerous wars, and the financial crises brought on by these wars acted as catalysts for financial change. The changes were broader than financial, to be sure. One prominent historian observes that, in the fifteenth century, innovation was an unfamiliar and suspect idea, but that with the spread of printing and the displacement of Latin by the vernacular languages, new ideas abounded in the sixteenth century (Boorstin, 1985, p. 515). The age teemed with innovators in cultural, religious, and scientific life and included such figures as Calvin, Copernicus, Galileo, Luther, Mercator, Montaigne, Rabelais, and Shakespeare. In finance as well, there were important new views and responses to events. These economic and financial innovations are the subject of this essay.

Thanks are due to John Day and Frank C. Spooner, who provided references and reprints, and to Rondo Cameron, who was kind enough to read an early draft.

1 Money: From Gold to Silver

The fifteenth century was characterized by a scarcity of precious metals suitable for striking coins. This European "bullion famine" (Day, 1987) caused an especially acute shortage of the small coins used by working people in daily life. Some shopkeepers extended credit to customers in the form of "tallies," notched sticks split between tradesman and customer. Jacques Coeur, the renowned French merchant, is reported (twice) to have been unable to sell goods from his fully laden galley in Valencia because the town's inhabitants had no acceptable money (North, 1994, pp. 41, 66).

Gold came to Europe from the Sudan, first across the desert (mostly) to Alexandria, where it was traded with Venice, and later, after the Age of Discovery, up the Atlantic Coast of West Africa in Portuguese ships. According to one estimate, the gold arriving annually amounted to 700 kilograms at the beginning of the sixteenth century (North, 1994, p. 74). The supply actually in use, however, was certainly less than this amount. In an age of pestilence, war, and quarrels, hoarding was rational, whether as merchants' capital, ecclesiastical treasure, or Gresham-law hoards. In addition, the melting pot, losses at sea, and ordinary wear and tear in hand-to hand circulation reduced the supply of money in precious metals—by 2 to 3 percent a year in the case of gold coins, and by 4 to 5 percent in the case of silver and copper (North, 1994, pp. 109–110). Michael North (pp. 85–86) reports a sharp decline in the monetary use of gold between the middle of the fifteenth century and the second half of the sixteenth, although the numbers, reflected in tax collections, bequests, and later-discovered gold hoards, show varying degrees of decline from region to region.

The Expanded Money Supply

The European money supply expanded at the beginning of the sixteenth century as the Fugger family of financiers obtained control of gold (and copper) mines in Hungary and silver mines in the Tyrol and the Erzgebirge. Gross additions exceeded net in the early 1500s, as the Fuggers sent silver to Venice, whence it was shipped to the Levant to purchase luxury goods—pepper, spices, silk—and to exchange for gold, which was cheaper in the eastern Mediterranean than in Europe. As mining production rose, however, more and more silver was sent to the Spanish Netherlands, ¹ along with copper and brass, to pay for woolens

¹ The Spanish Netherlands roughly comprised present-day Belgium and Luxembourg.

and Portuguese spices brought from the Far East and to purchase gold from Spanish America. Silver production in central Europe reached its peak in the 1530s. As it subsequently declined, German miners emigrated to England, Ireland, France, Spain, and the New World (Vilar, 1976, p. 169; Spooner, 1972, p. 25; Brandi, 1939, p. 337). Frank Spooner records the number of these skilled miners going to Ireland as 400; Karl Brandi and Pierre Vilar (p. 107) note that the miners going to the Americas included twenty-four whose journey to San Domingo was financed by the Welsers, bankers from Nuremberg.

North (1994, p. 71) estimates that central European silver output doubled between 1470 and 1520 and increased further in the 1520s with the new mine at Joachimstal, before declining sharply in the following decade. Then came a mass of gold from the New World sixty tons of it between 1492 and 1550, funneled by the Spanish and Portuguese to Bruges, Antwerp, and Florence, where the mints switched over from silver to gold (North, 1994, p. 74). This gold was in the form of booty, rather than new production. New World production, when it started, was in silver, at the silver mountain at Potosí in Peru (modern Bolivia). The Potosí mine was discovered in 1545. Originally worked with mercury brought from Almadén in Spain (from a concession obtained by the Fuggers as collateral for their loans to Charles V), the mine's production rose sharply in the 1560s, following the discovery of mercury deposits in the Andean region of Huancavelica in 1563. Imports of silver into Seville reached peaks in the years between 1580 and 1585 and 1590 and 1600 (Vilar, 1976, chaps. 14, 15). Tables of silver imports into Europe are given by Earl J. Hamilton (1934, p. 34), Artur Attman (1986), and Michel Morineau (1985). It is generally recognized that Hamilton's estimates understate imports for the early years of the seventeenth century, because he counted only those imports recorded by the official Casa de Contratación in Seville. He therefore missed out on smuggling, landings at Lisbon, and specie transferred to Dutch and English East India ships directly in Cadiz, downstream from Seville. In addition, considerable amounts of silver went from Peru to Acapulco in Mexico between 1573 and 1815, and thence to the Philippines in the "Manila galleon"²—between two and three million pesos a year by 1590, and as much as 12 million pesos in 1597 (Borah, 1954, p. 123). In Manila, the silver was used to buy silk brought there by Chinese merchants.

 $^{^2}$ The Manilla galleon made an annual round trip between Manila and Acapulco from 1565 to 1815.

Monetary Movements

How much specie remained in Spain, how much in other parts of Europe, and how much was carried to the East are questions for which we have no definitive answers. For 1600, Attman (1986) estimates silver imports into Europe of about 260 tons a year, and exports of 114 tons, leaving a surplus of about 150 tons. North (1994, p. 79, p. 217, n. 23) retains the export figure, lowers the import figure to 220 tons, and estimates a net accretion to European silver stocks of about 100 tons annually at the end of the sixteenth century. Royal edicts required that imports be registered at the Casa de Contratación, where the royal tax of one-fifth was collected. When the Spanish silver fleet arrived, Seville had liquid funds in prodigious abundance, followed shortly by a scarcity as the specie spread over Spain and Europe as a whole and was shipped eastward (Braudel and Spooner, 1955). Although Seville was perhaps more volatile monetarily than other European cities,³ most European cities alternated between easy and tight money.⁴

Loans to Charles V and Philip II earned not only interest, but also permission to export silver. So did *asientos*, bills drawn on Lyons and, especially, Antwerp to pay Spanish and German mercenaries fighting against the French in the Spanish Netherlands or putting down revolt. The "Dover Road" went by ship to the English Channel and Antwerp but was cut off when England was at war with Spain. The "Spanish Road" consisted in shipping silver in galleys from Barcelona to Genoa, converting it to gold, and taking the gold by mule train through Piedmont, Savoy, the Franche-Comté, and Lorraine to the Spanish Netherlands

³ In writing about bankruptcy in preindustrial Europe, Mark Steele (1991, pp. 192, 199) states that Seville had a well-known reputation for banking instability, and that insolvency in Seville often led bankers to flee or to seek holy sanctuary to avoid imprisonment for debt. An article by Tinoco Rubiales (1991) on private banks and municipal power in Seville (unhappily in Spanish, which I do not read) has a long series of appendices, the second of which provides eight tables giving lists of banks and exchange dealers, including, in Tables E and H, lists of bankruptcies with brief notations. Table E deals with the crisis of the 1550s, and Table H, with that of the 1590s. Appendix 11, in prose, rather than tabular form, covers the exhaustion of the municipal treasury and the bankruptcy of banks in 1600 and 1601.

⁴ Fernand Braudel and Frank Spooner (1955) use the French expressions "largesse" and "étroitesse" for ease and tightness. The English translation of Herman van der Wee's (1963) study of the Antwerp money market uses the Italian terms, "larghessa" and "strettezza." Henri Lapeyre (1955), a Frenchman, writing about Spain, uses the Spanish, "larqueza" and "estrecheza."

(Parker, 1972, p. 59). Other routes led from Spain to Nantes through France to the Spanish Netherlands, with a safe conduct being given on the proviso that one-third of the specie remain in France (Lapeyre, 1953, p. 25). Lapeyre (p. 455) also notes some shipments sent by Simon Ruiz to Rouen, where one could obtain better rates, especially after 1586.

In his classic study of monetary movements in France from the voyage of Columbus to the setting of the price of the livre in gold in 1726 (after the Mississippi bubble), Spooner (1972, pp. 4–43) holds that France was not unified monetarily. Silver circulated in the west after the middle of the sixteenth century—gold coin before—and copper, infiltrating from Germany, in the east. With wartime monetary troubles from 1540 to 1550, silver testons, the nominal equivalent of the English shilling, were converted to copper money. At one stage in the transition, the merchants of Lyons, echoing an order given by Charles V in Spain in the 1530s, insisted that two-thirds of every payment, especially of bills of exchange at fairs, be made in gold (Spooner, 1972, p. 98). This requirement lasted only a month, however, because it crippled Spanish trade with the Brabant and Flanders (Spooner, 1972, p. 133).

Marie-Therèse Boyer-Xambeu, Ghislain Delaplace, and Lucien Gillard (1986) make a sharp distinction between bills of exchange, private money traded at fairs, and coins that were royal money. They recognize, however, that although in principle, only kings had the right to coin precious metals, in practice, they farmed out this privilege, as also their right to exploit the royal domains and to collect taxes, because European kings, apart from those in Prussia, had only limited bureaucratic staffs. Achieving a central monopoly of the coinage would take another two centuries. Moreover, national borders were porous, and foreign coins circulated freely. A French edict in 1557 counted 190 coins of different sovereigns in use in France (Boyer-Xambeu, Deleplace, and Gillard, 1986, p. 70).

The Debasement of Coinage

From time to time, kings would debase the coinage to gain seigniorage, especially in time of war. Henry VIII of England did so on a small scale when war broke out with Scotland in 1542 (along with confiscating

⁵ Henry II reigned in France in the 1550s with a relatively small bureaucracy of 10,000 *officiers* (Le Roy Ladurie, 1997, p. 164).

goods and church property and imposing forced loans). The debasement was extended when the fighting expanded into France in 1544, and after Henry's death in 1547, it was taken still further under his successor, Edward VI. From 1544 to 1551, as the price of silver at the mints was raised from £2/8/8 per ounce to £4/8/0, and that of gold from £27/16/5 to £37/1/10, the seigniorage gained was £1,270,000. By May 15, 1550, seigniorage had covered more than one-third of the war's total cost of £3,500,000 (Challis, 1978, pp. 253–254). A revaluation in October 1551 reduced the price of silver to £3/5/2 per ounce and that of gold to £36, and a second revaluation under Elizabeth I in 1559 brought prices back to the 1543 levels (Gould, 1970, p. 11). The economic literature offers something of a debate as to whether the debasement of the English coinage, which resulted in a depreciation of the exchange rates against the Low Countries, had a significant impact on English exports, but this need not detain us. It is of more interest that the Holy Roman Empire, in an ordnance of Charles V at Augsburg, devalued the gold taler in 1551. An additional adjustment in 1559 would serve as the standard to which the empire would return in 1623, following progressive debasements after 1600 in anticipation of the Thirty Years' War (Kindleberger, 1995, p. 262). Richard Ehrenberg notes that "many princes in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries did a roaring business in currency depreciation and sale of offices to raise money" (Ehrenberg, 1928, p. 31).

The weight of the groat of the Spanish Netherlands had been reduced in 1520 from 0.49 grams of silver to 0.42 grams. In 1548, as supplies of silver from the New World began to increase, the value of gold rose against silver. In 1551, the groat was reduced to 0.40 grams of silver, and by the time of the Treaty of Westphalia in 1648, it was down to 0.25 grams (van Houtte, 1977, p. 422). Similar adjustments took place all over Europe. Earl Hamilton (1934, chaps. 3 and 4) claims that Charles V and Philip II of Spain resisted debasement but that the succession of financial crises affecting Spain (in 1557, 1575, 1598, 1607, 1627, and 1647), together with shortages of silver, led Castile to blacken its coinage with copper in a compound called "vellon" (billon in France). Hamilton (1934, p. 67) observes that many economists at the time thought that debasement was unobjectionable for gold and vellon but that it could be the ruin of commerce if applied to silver.

There were difficulties in reconciling the relative prices of gold, silver, and copper coins, because the supplies of each kept changing, and various mints adapted to the changes with longer and shorter lags. Gresham's law was kept busy as undervalued coins were hoarded,

melted down, or exported, and overvalued coins were spent or exchanged for gold coin wherever sophisticated dealers could take advantage of naive people. In addition to the problems with full-weight coins, there were problems of counterfeiting, clipping (until milled edges were introduced in the second half of the seventeenth century), rubbing, and sweating, that is, shaking good coins in a bag to collect the dust (Challis, 1978, p. 275). Adjustments in the gold-to-silver ratio were continuous. In Castile, the ratio, decreed legally at the mint, stood at 10.11 to 1 from 1496 to 1536, and at 10.61 to 1 from 1537 to 1565. It then moved up in one large step to 12.12 to 1 in 1566, and up another step to 13.3 to 1 in 1609 (Hamilton, 1934, p. 71). The pioneering quantity theorist Jean Bodin favored a ratio of 12 to 1, because he believed in the harmony of numbers (Vilar, 1976, p. 173; Spooner, 1972, p. 94). Six, divisible by 1, 2, and 3, was the perfect number; double it and one gets 12. As sometimes happens, however, theory was overtaken by events. Boyer-Xambeu, Deleplace, and Gillard (1986, p. 230) provide a table of bimetallic ratios in Europe showing the differences between the highest and the lowest ratios. Most countries show changed ratios between 1550 and 1560 (but not Spain, Portugal, or Milan), and England, with Elizabeth's revaluation in 1559, went from 11.1 to 1 to 13.3 to 1, the highest number in the table, except for Venice at 14 to 1 in 1600.

Inflation

The shift from gold money in the first half of the sixteenth century to silver money in the second half was less important than the inflation, or so-called "price revolution." Debate over its causes started with the controversy between Malestroit and Jean Bodin and continues to the present day (Fischer, 1996, pp. 70-91). Like Bodin, Hamilton (1934) ascribed the rise in prices in the sixteenth century to the increase in the money stock caused by the flow of silver from the New World. Later historians attribute at least the beginnings of the inflation to demographic factors, especially to the fact that after the Black Death of 1348, population growth recovered more rapidly than did agricultural production (Outhwaite, 1969; North, 1990, chaps. 6 and 7). The case against the quantity theory is that prices started to rise well before the massive imports of silver from Peru and Mexico in the 1550s and 1560s and that the prices of basic foodstuffs rose higher than the prices of industrial goods and wages. North (1990, p. 225) offers a telling comparison of the twenty years from 1561 to 1570 with those from 1511 to 1520 for prices on the Baltic south coast: grain prices rose by

274 percent and other foodstuffs by 161 percent, but prices of industrial goods and wages rose only 119 percent and 81 percent, respectively, with commercial and other property prices rising somewhere between these last two figures. North's estimate (1990, p. 226) of the growth in the money supply from 1510 to 1570 is 22 percent—leaving out, of course, unknown amounts of bills of exchange and other forms of credit. The point at which prices started to rise differed from market to market but occurred mostly in the first half of the century, primarily in 1515, 1520, or 1525, well before the massive flow of silver from the New World to the European continent (North, 1990, chap. 6)⁶

Although the second half of the sixteenth century saw a significant shift of money prices from gold to silver, another view holds that the role of specie has been exaggerated relative to the role of credit. Specie was required for certain payments, notably for the wages of mercenary soldiers, the settlement of a portion of balances at fairs within Europe, and the payments for net imports from the eastern Baltic, the Mediterranean, and the Far East. But Vilar (1976, p. 146) quotes a sixteenth-century Spanish source as stating that the fair at Medina del Campo was a factory for contracts, with never a coin traded there. This brings us to the transformation of the European fairs from fairs for dealers trading in goods to fairs for dealers involved mainly in finance.

2 Fairs: From Goods to Credit Instruments

Fairs started out to accommodate foreign merchants. Often organized into "nations," these merchants were granted special legal protection during the period of a fair—protection to which they were not otherwise entitled. Fairs were held for a few days or a few weeks at specific times—some two, some three, some four times a year. The most prominent early fairs were those in the Champagne country of France in the twelfth and thirteenth centuries, dealing largely in British wool and Flemish woolen cloth. Regular procedures were developed, starting with a set number of days for trading in cloth, then leather, then goods of weight (avoirs du poids) such as metals. These were followed by days for settlement, during which each merchant would cast up balances of

⁶ Le Roy Ladurie (1997, p. 191) observed that in 1564, Charles IV of France quadrupled the salaries of the four regents of the medical school in Montpellier. These had been frozen since the end of the fifteenth century, despite the fact that inflation had raised prices two to three hundred percent.

the goods he had bought and sold and would then receive or pay the balance. At first, balances were paid in coin, but increasingly, they came to be paid in bills of exchange drawn on another place or on the next fair. In due course, and especially in the sixteenth century, trade in bills of exchange, usually for three-months "usance," replaced trade in goods. Borrowers, including agents of rulers, and lenders would attend fairs solely to deal in credit instruments.

The Fairs of Spain

The fairs of Spain were dominated by the fair at Medina del Campo, although bills of exchange were also traded in significant amounts at Burgos. Elsewhere, the fair at Bruges in the fifteenth century lost out to Antwerp in the sixteenth. The latter started with two fairs a year for goods and took over two from Bergen op Zoom, the Antwerp foreport, which specialized in finance. In the middle of the century, Antwerp followed Bruges in building a bourse, named after the house of one Burs in Bruges where financial trading had concentrated. The Antwerp bourse was entirely devoted to finance. The English Merchant Adventurers sold their cloth elsewhere, in an open-air market near the docks. Sir Thomas Gresham built the Royal Exchange in London in 1566 on the pattern of the Antwerp bourse.

Stapling, the concentrated selling of commodities, took place in other countries separately from fairs. The British Merchants of the Staple (wool), located at Calais, moved in 1559 to Le Havre. In Spain, Spanish merchants traded wool at Burgos, which was accessible to the export port of Bilbao on the Bay of Biscay. British merchants sold goods for export to the New World at San Lucar, a foreport of Seville, which even had an English church (Kellenbenz, 1970, p. 336).

The role of foreign merchants in Spain was studied at a symposium in Cologne, the results of which are reported by Hermann Kellenbenz (1970). There was much movement. Germans, Florentines, and Venetians dominated trade in Alicante and Valencia in the fifteenth century, but they were eclipsed and overtaken by the Genoese in the sixteenth century (Lapeyre, 1970, p. 112). There were three northern groups in Seville before 1566: British and Dutch (lumped together), Bretons, and Hanseatics. By about 1570, however, as silver from the New World arrived in great quantities, the Genoese merchant bankers took over there as well, financing trade to America, dealing in *asientos* for the Spanish Netherlands, and acquiring licenses to export silver (Berthe, 1970, p. 241). The Spanish in Seville found themselves reduced to commission agents, without risk. Kellenbenz (1970, p. 349) asks but does

not answer the question whether the dominance of foreign merchants limited Spanish growth in the second half of the sixteenth century.

Some foreign merchants were settled in Spain; some, like the Flemish, came only for the fairs. While there was an English house in Antwerp, some 600 Merchant Adventurers came for at least one fair a year (van Houtte, 1977, p. 178). As trade changed, so did the numbers of merchants attending the fairs. There were only twelve Portuguese merchants in Antwerp in 1526 but ninety-seven in 1570, when Portuguese exports of spices, olive oil, and southern fruit were flourishing and Portuguese salt from Setúbal had displaced Biscay salt from Bourgneuf in France (van Houtte, 1977, pp. 176–177). In 1551, there were thirty-eight firms in the Genoese nation in Antwerp, twenty-three "Lombard," twenty Luccan, and thirteen Florentine firms (van Houtte, 1977, p. 181). Although the Spanish were outdone at home by foreign merchants, the number of Spanish merchants in Antwerp increased from 200 in 1553–54 to 300 by 1560 (Lynch, 1964, p. 272). Late in the century, a significant contrast emerged between Antwerp and Amsterdam. Antwerp, with mostly foreign merchants, distributed luxury goods and English woolens; Amsterdam, with native-born dealers, dealt in bulk goods—herring, grains, and salt (van Houtte, 1977, p. 186).

Movements of Fairs and Merchants

Fairs did not stay put. Francis I of France first attracted the Genoese nation from Geneva to Lyons, then pushed it out to Besançon in the Franche-Comté, from which it moved by stages to Piacenza outside Genoa (although it kept the Italianized version of the Besançon name

⁷ Italians also dominated Lyons. In 1571, the national origins of foreigners in Lyons banking were: Florentine 42, Milanese 36, Luccan 28, Genoese 27, German (including Swiss) 22, other Italians 15, Portuguese 4, English 1, Flemish 1, Spanish 1, or a total of 154 Italians and 29 of other national origin. Most of the big foreign merchant bankers—for example, the Centuroni and Capponi of Florence and Ruiz of Spain—became naturalized, but true settlement was rare. Jean (Hans) Kleberg, the "good German," whose family originated in Nuremberg, became a Swiss citizen. He stood out from others of the German "nation" because of his many charities, although his designation may say something about the avarice of other Germans—numerous Welsers, Tuchers, George Obrecht of Strassburg, and Israel Minkel, a Swiss (Gascon, 1971, p. 359 and passim; Ehrenberg, 1928, pp. 184–185). Lapeyre (1955, p. 124) writes that one would think Lyons an Italian republic, with the French a "nation" like the Milanese, Genoese, Florentines, Luccans, and Germans. Decisions about trading were made by the Italians.

as Bisenzone). The Merchant Adventurers persuaded the English government to drive the rival Hanseatic woolen merchants from the Steelyard in London. They were first ejected in 1552, allowed to return in 1553, and finally driven away in 1556 (de Roover, 1949, p. 221). When England found itself in a trade war with Margaret of Parma, regent of the Spanish Netherlands, it threatened to move the Merchant Adventurers to Emden in Germany. In 1564, when the regent was unable to obtain the release of some English merchants and seamen imprisoned in Spain and to guarantee that English trade with Spain would be open and free, England made good its threat. George Ramsay (1975, p. 208) states, somewhat guardedly, that if there was a turning point in English commercial history, this was it.

By the end of the sixteenth century, the fairs in Spain had lost their raison d'être and, despite attempts at modernization, had gone into decline, along with the banks supporting them. In 1569, when some dealers had thought the five-month interval between the October and May fairs was too long and that fifty days for each fair was also overextended, the two existing fairs were shortened to thirty days, and a third fair of forty days was added. In 1601, a fourth fair was introduced. In addition, payments of taxes and interest on royal debt were removed from the fairs to make room for more merchandise transactions. These actions failed to arrest the downward trend. For one thing, the king prolonged the fair of 1574 for a full year. In addition, the revolt in Flanders caused exports of wool to decline, and Dutch entry into the East Indies trade hurt Portuguese business. A tax on exchanges, the alcabala, moreover, pushed many merchants out of trading in merchandise to dealing in money or investing in juros, perpetual 5 percent bonds (Fernandez de Pinedo, 1991, pp. 1042–1047).

3 The Shift of Trade North

The sixteenth century was characterized by the shift of Italian and Spanish trade, in particular, and of European trade, in general, from the Mediterranean to the Atlantic and the north, especially to the English Channel and the North Sea (Lynch, 1964, chap. 9). Spanish armies and navies had been held down on two fronts. With success in 1571 in the battle of Lepanto against Turkey, (and the euphoria generated by rising silver imports), however, Spain turned its military attention from the Mediterranean to the west and north. In particular, it sought to strengthen its ground armies in the Eighty Years' War (1568–1648) against the revolt in the Spanish Netherlands, partly in the name of the

Counter-Reformation, but primarily to hold on to the territory (Lynch, 1964, chap. 7). One celebrated episode in the course of the war was the dispatch of the Spanish Armada, sent to clear the English Channel for Spanish shipping to Antwerp. The Armada's defeat in 1588 proved not to be decisive. The loss of sailors was not enormous and the efficient Spanish bureaucracy repaired forty-eight of the fifty-six ships that made it back to Spain and built new ships to fill Spanish needs in the Atlantic and the north (Lynch, 1964, pp. 326–327).

Venice

During the sixteenth century, Venice was having difficulty feeding its growing population. Attempts were made from time to time to add to normal supplies from the Terra Ferma (Po Valley), from Sicily, Turkey, and Bavaria by road, and even from Poland by way of the Black Sea. In 1590, the worst harvest in Italy in twenty years required more strenuous measures. First, Venetian ships proceeded to the Baltic; then English, Dutch, and Danish ships penetrated the Mediterranean with grain from Danzig. Within a few years, Venetian buyers were acquiring grain in Antwerp and Amsterdam and paying for it with exchange on Nuremberg, Antwerp, and, occasionally, Besançon (Aymard, 1956, chap. 4, esp., pp. 154–164).

Leghorn

Leghorn on the Tyrennean Sea, built by the Medici in the fifteenth century as a Tuscan rival to Pisa, was made a free port by the Grand Duke of Tuscany in 1590. It served primarily English shipping; Thomas Mun served part of his apprenticeship there from perhaps 1597 to 1607 before becoming a director of the East India Company (de Roover, 1957). Until Dutch and English ships penetrated the Mediterranean, the Leghorn trade with the north had been conducted largely by Venetian and Genoese vessels. Hanseatic shipping ventured into the Bay of Biscay for salt and wine, ultimately being overtaken by Dutch ships in the wine trade with Bordeaux, which in turn were displaced by French vessels in the eighteenth century (Crouzet, 1968). But Spanish sailors played an important part in the shift of merchandise traffic from south to north, especially sailors from Viscaya on the Bay of Biscay, where Bilbao was the leading shipbuilding city.

It is remarkable, in retrospect, that the Flemish and Brabanters, with so much in the way of exports and imports, were not more distinguished in shipping but were instead dominated, first, by the Hanseatics and the Italians, and, then, by the English, Dutch, and Zeelanders.

4 Banking: From the Fuggers to the Genoese

The Italians were the leading bankers in the fifteenth century, especially the Florentines in Bruges. Toward the end of the century, they began to transfer their activities to Antwerp and Lyons. The late fifteenth century also saw the rise of South German merchant bankers, notably the Fuggers of Augsburg, Welsers of Nuremberg, and the Hochstetters, Seilers, and others (Bergier, 1979, pp. 108–109). South Germany had close connections with Venice, from which it bought the eastern cotton needed to mix with wool in the production of fustian. In time, the South German bankers sent their sons to Venice to learn double-entry bookkeeping and banking. They were imitators, not innovators of credit instruments, according to Hildebrand (1991), although they found themselves drawn into industrial investments, especially in mining, through loans to princes.

The bankers of North Germany, concentrated mainly in Lübeck, which collected the Pope's revenues from the Baltic area, were far more backward in banking, resisting Italian influences even though one or two Italian bankers had insinuated themselves into the city (North, 1991). For the most part, Hanseatic merchants in foreign ports traded with local money, buying the equivalent in value of what they sold. The bankers sent the papal income to Rome, initially through Bruges, with its Hanseatic Kontor (office), and later through Nuremberg.

The Fuggers

At the beginning of the sixteenth century, the Fuggers of Augsburg borrowed from Cardinal Melchior von Brizen in the South Tyrol and made loans to Holy Roman Emperor Maximilian, for which they received mortgages on gold and silver mines in Hungary, the Tyrol, and the Erzgebirge. In 1519, two years after Martin Luther nailed his thesis to the church door at Weimar, initiating a running war between Catholicism and Protestantism, Jacob Fugger undertook to finance the campaign of Charles V (Charles I, king of Spain) to succeed Maximilian. Francis I of France, also a contender for the emperorship, sought but failed to borrow funds from the Fuggers and borrowed from the Genoese instead. The monies were needed to elicit the votes of the German princes who served as electors. In the end, Charles V won the election, having borrowed 850,000 florins for his campaign, of which 542,000 came from the Fuggers, 143,000 from the Welsers, and 165,000 (55,000 each) from three Florentine banks (Ehrenberg, 1928, pp. 75–77).

In 1523, Charles V still owed the Fuggers his dues under contracts with three Spanish knightly orders (of Santiago, Calatrava, and Alcantara), which had grown with the expulsion of the Moors from Granada in 1492. The orders produced grain and other agricultural products, which they marketed, and they paid some dues in kind. In addition, Calatrava contained the mercury mines at Almadén. The three orders were bound in a lease called the "Maestrazgo." The contract with the orders ran out in 1538 and led to serious bidding among the Fuggers, Welsers, and some Genoese for the four-year extension. The Fuggers won the contract for the 1538-42 period, despite the pressure of what Kellenbenz (1967, p. 15) calls the *Staatsrat* (probably the *Cortes*, or Council) to favor the Genoese. Kellenbenz's study is based largely on documents uncovered in the Fugger archive in Dillingen/Donau. The contracts, which seem not to go beyond 1542, are complex, specifying payments in Spain and abroad and dealing with the rights to export grain and, presumably, mercury. The Welsers, in addition to competing for these contracts in Spain, had been engaged between 1528 and 1532 in financing Spanish exploration in the New World, including the recruitment of German miners. They maintained "factories" (branches or depots) in Spain and in San Domingo (Brandi, 1939, pp. 337–339).

In February 1525, Charles V's troops had been unpaid for three months, and he decided to attack the French to gain an indemnity. His Spanish mercenaries captured Francis I of France at the battle of Pavia. Charles V released Francis in exchange for his four sons as hostages. In the peace of 1529, the sons were, in turn, released on the promise of a ransom of two million escudos, plus 290,000 more to pay Charles V's debt to England. Ransom in the amount of 1,200,000 was to be paid in cash, with the boat carrying the princes to their father crossing the Bidossa River at the same time as the money crossed in the opposite direction (Vilar, 1976, p. 174). Ehrenberg (1928, p. 81) records that money poured into France for this ransom from many sources: from the king of England, the Republics of Genoa and Venice, and from the Duke of Milan.

During the 1530s and 1540s, Anton Fugger, who took over the firm on the death of Jacob, started lending on a vast scale. Financial trouble lay ahead for Anton, however, as Charles V continued to borrow to conduct war against the French, and the French borrowed funds to resist the emperor. In addition, Charles was under strong pressure from the German Protestant princes, who, allied with the Catholic king of France, in 1552 drove Charles out of Augsburg (where he had been staying in Anton Fugger's house) into Italy. There, characteristically,

Charles borrowed more money (Brandi, 1939, pp. 600–611). In Antwerp, the Fuggers, too, borrowed more money, not only for Charles V, but also to lend to England, which also was fighting the French. The monies did not save Charles, who spent 2,500,000 ducats in the battle for Metz but failed to take the city (Lynch, 1964, pp. 55, 57). Ehrenberg calls 1552 the turning point for the Fuggers. The Spanish-French wars proceeded nevertheless.

Lyons and the Grand Parti

In the mid-sixteenth century, the Italians were being drawn to Lyons as well as to the Low Countries. The Medici bank had much earlier transferred its main branch from Geneva to Lyons. Lyons was important for French state finances, and this attracted the Florentines (who were also shifting from Bruges to Antwerp), as well as the Genoese. Cardinal Toulon, an innovative French financial agent, first, of Francis I, and then, of his successor Henry II (1547 to 1557), organized in Lyons at this time a royal loan called "the Grand Parti." As earlier noted, the French kings had been borrowing heavily from the start of the English wars in 1543. The loans were described as "short-term, but permanent," that is, they ran from fair to fair, three months apart, at 3, 3.3, or 4 percent (making for annual rates of 12, 14, and 16 percent), but were rolled over automatically. In addition, banks accepted deposits from "widows and orphans" at 5 to 8 percent per annum and lent to the king at 10 percent (Doucet, 1933, part 1, p. 475). The Grand Parti was organized in 1555 to sort out this chaotic situation. It was a royal loan, raised from the public, rather than the banks, and had a 10-year term, a sinking fund, and compound interest. Ehrenberg claims that it was the first royal loan open to all. Doucet (1933, part 1, pp. 494–495) insists that it was nothing new, having been patterned after a French loan of 1552. Subscriptions were received quarterly, and the interest rate came down to 12 percent a year. There was a continuous rush to buy, from the local populace and from foreigners, among the latter, even a Turkish pasha. Women sold ornaments to raise cash, servants contributed, and amounts were sent in from Toulouse, Montpellier, and Riom to add to the amounts raised in Lyons. "Every man ran to it as to a fire" (Hauser, 1929-30, p. 249, quoting Jean Bodin; Doucet, 1933, part 1, pp. 490–503; Ehrenberg, 1928, pp. 302–306).

The enthusiasm was not sustained, however. The sinking fund was not kept up; interest was not paid but was added to principal. Starting as a floating debt of 1,500,000 ecus (4,500,000 livres), the loan finally reached 9,700,000 livres. This proved insufficient to pursue the war,

and Henry II turned again to borrowing from bankers. He pledged the yield on the salt tax in Brittany and various regions in southern France, as well as the customs of Lyons, although this was already committed as collateral for a loan from Florentine bankers. At the beginning of 1558, the Grand Parti, plus loans, amounted to 13,200,000 livres, with interest payments at 2,600,000 (Doucet, 1933, part 1, pp. 505–506). With armies in Italy and in the north at the battle of St. Quentin, plus a resumption of war with the rebellious Spanish Netherlands, financial ruin arrived for France.

St. Quentin and the Rise of the Genoese

The Spanish armies under the Duke of Alba fared no better than the French. Charles V had abdicated the Spanish throne in 1555 in favor of his son, Philip II, and in 1556 left the throne of the Holy Roman Empire to his brother, Maximilian I. Spanish armies had done well in Italy, defeating papal forces at Milan and Naples, and this encouraged Philip to renew his attack on the French at St. Quentin in 1557. Despite the failure of the treasure fleet to arrive from America, he hired German mercenaries, using monies borrowed from the Fuggers in Antwerp. The Fuggers originally lent their own funds. In the 1540s, however, they started borrowing in order to lend, a practice that Ehrenberg (1928, pp. 1130) states was safe originally but dangerous later. In financing St. Quentin, the house borrowed at 9 percent and charged 12 to 13 percent.

At St. Quentin, Philip II and Henry II exhausted both their finances and their armies, which they were forced to disband. Peace came at Cateau-Cambrésis in 1559. In the meantime, however, both monarchs had stopped servicing their debts. In Lyons, the French suspended the sinking fund and added current interest due to principal. Philip II paid off maturing debts with *juros* and confiscated the silver fleets of July I and September 20, 1557 (van der Wee, 1977, p. 371). The flooding of Spanish markets with *juros* converted many Spaniards into *rentiers*, who deserted commerce for the noble life (North, 1994, p. 92).

Both Genoese bankers and Germans negotiated with Castile to settle Philip's debts. The Tuscans and Germans held out for two years for payment, but the clever Genoese—the Grimaldi, Centuroni, Espinosas, and others—had loaned less and settled earlier and on more generous terms, earning themselves a preferred position in future Spanish finance (Ehrenberg, 1928, p. 118; van der Wee, 1977, p. 371). Although the final eclipse of the Fuggers awaited the Spanish financial crises of 1575 and 1596, 1557 marked the start of the "Age of Genoa," which lasted

seventy years, until two additional Spanish royal bankruptcies, in 1607 and 1627, brought the Genoese down as well. The Hapsburgs squeezed all they could from the South German bankers and then turned to Genoa, or to the invading Genoese bankers (Arrighi, 1994, pp. 124–125). Giovanni Arrighi's Marxian analysis holds the Age of Genoa, a Braudelian designation, to have been the first of four cycles of systemic capital accumulation: Genoan, Dutch, English, and United States.

Religious Wars and Emigration North

In addition to the Spanish and Anglo-French hostilities, France was harassed by religious wars. Persecution by Catholics of the Lutherans and Anabaptists of Germany and Holland had little impact on business or finance. The rise of Calvinism, the peculiarly French form of Protestantism, however, was different (Coornaert, 1961, vol. 1, p. 100). Some Calvinist Huguenots had been pirates in the Bay of Biscay, preying on the Spanish-French trade out of Nantes and St. Nazaire and, after the Treaty of Cateau-Cambrésis (which the Protestants thought unfavorable to them), on trade with the Indies. In 1562, during the first of eight wars of religion in France, the Huguenots occupied Rouen and Lyons, the premier French cities in trade and finance, respectively. Successive peace treaties were followed by new outbreaks of hostilities. The third war ended in 1570 in the Treaty of St. Germain, only to be followed two years later by the Massacre of St. Bartholomew, during which Catholics attacked Protestants throughout France. Huguenot piracy in the Atlantic continued uninterrupted. Peace treaties and new hostilities followed one another until the Edict of Nantes, granting the Huguenots freedom of worship in 1598, was revoked by Louis XIV almost a century later in 1685, leading to a massive emigration of Huguenots to Geneva, Amsterdam, Hamburg, London, and the American colonies (Lapeyre 1955, p. 413ff).

The religious wars in France were paralleled in the Spanish Netherlands by the War of the Counter-Reformation, which applied the Inquisition to the Low Countries. Cardinal Granvelle, Philip II's advisor to the regent Margaret, was expelled from the Netherlands in 1562 in a victory for the Calvinist princes. This led to the dispatch of the Duke of Alba to Brussels, the Duke's ruthless suppression of Protestant resistance, the sack of Antwerp in 1568, and the outbreak of the Dutch revolt in 1572. John Lynch (1964, chap. 8, esp., pp. 236, 257, 263) states that the Counter-Reformation was a war more to secure Spanish territory than to satisfy religious zeal.

The Huguenot attack on Lyons in 1562 and the Dutch blockade of the Scheldt estuary in 1585 each led to emigrations of merchants, along with Protestants, Jews, and foreigners, from France as a whole and, especially, from the Spanish Netherlands. The resettlement of many of the latter emigrants in the northern Netherlands and in the Lower Elbe region stimulated the economic and financial growth—and ultimate primacy—of the Dutch Republic as well as the beginnings of commercial and financial growth in Hamburg.

5 Credit Instruments and Capital Markets

The Grand Parti

The Grand Parti of 1555–57 furnishes an early example of the distinction between bank-based and market-based capital markets (Sarcinelli, 1996). After Henry II stopped paying the sinking fund and deferred interest, the price of the bonds, sold to the public and traded in markets, fell to 70 livres (Doucet, 1933, part 2, p. 3). The Grand Parti was not the first such example, however. Beginning in the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries and continuing on a larger scale in the sixteenth century, especially after 1560, the French crown had also borrowed on rentes.

Rentes

The rente was a loan with payment of service assigned to a tax or, increasingly, to a town or city, which sometimes raised the tax but, in any event, stood behind the service of the debt. In the first half of the sixteenth century, French rentes were largely assigned to the rural areas; after 1566, they were guaranteed by the Hôtel de Ville of Paris (Schnapper, 1957, p. 80, and part 2, chap. 2). After the 1559 bankruptcy, the king and the city of Paris entered into the Contract of Poissy with the Church, in which the Pope promised that the French clergy would, over six years, pay the accumulated arrears of the Hôtel de Ville of Paris (Schnapper, 1957, pp. 155–158). A similar development of rentes with cities smaller than Paris took place between 1515 and 1560 in the Spanish Netherlands and is called by James Tracy (1985) a "financial revolution." Rentiers would not accept the guarantee of every town, and those marketing rentes from Amsterdam hesitated to sell them in port cities, such as Bruges, where Dutch goods and ships might be confiscated if interest fell into arrears (Schnapper, pp. 112, 129).

Bernard Schnapper (1957, p. 9) writes that the history of the rente has been neglected because of historians' fascination with the bill of exchange, which evolved during the sixteenth century. The evolution of the bill of exchange in Antwerp at the hands of the Italians and Flemish (but not the South Germans, who clung to medieval techniques) has been recited in great detail, especially by de Roover (1949), van der Wee (1963, 1977, 1991a, and 1991b, chap. 3), and Boyer-Xambeu, Deleplace, and Gillard (1986, chap. 5). Begun early in the thirteenth century, the functions of the bill of exchange expanded in the sixteenth century as it became successively assignable, transferable, negotiable, and, from the 1540s, discountable, thus bridging time and space and serving as private money (as distinct from specie, which was the money of the prince). Boyer-Xambeu, Deleplace, and Gillard (1986, pp. 295–296) call the asiento, the special bill of exchange by which the Spanish transferred money from Spain to the Spanish Netherlands to pay their troops, a perversion of the monetary role of letters of exchange. This is because it specifies payment in specie, the only form of payment the mercenaries would accept. In addition, it lacked the flexibility of the bill of exchange used by the Italians and Flemish in Antwerp.

The rente in France evolved over the century in a fashion similar to a mortgage: it was perpetual in term and given when acquiring property; some rentes were given in kind for wine and grain. Originally, rentes did not circulate but were held for purchase of property, given as dowry, or bequeathed in an estate. Amounts were initially small in the sixteenth century, issued even by laborers to acquire small bits of land, and rose sharply as rentes came into use by the nobility and then the middle class (Schnapper, 1957). Tracy (1985, chap. 5) sketches the growing market for Dutch rentes, used initially in the Spanish Netherlands but gradually finding buyers at home in Holland and, especially, in Amsterdam. With the growth of Amsterdam after the sack of Antwerp, and the shift of capital out of trade and industry into finance, a rentier class emerged. Brewers in Delft and grain dealers were large purchasers. Tracy (1985, p. 219) concludes that towns started selling rentes on the open market because they were no longer able to force their citizens to lend to them.

6 Conclusion

The sixteenth century was a revolutionary time in European finance. Commerce moved from sporadic fairs to continuous trading. Financial transformations included shifts from gold to silver, from dominance by the Italians in the Mediterranean to primacy by the South Germans, and then, the Flemish and Dutch in the north. The Age of the Fuggers gave way to the Age of the Genoese. Silver from the New World produced or, as is more generally agreed, accelerated a price revolution. Religious and other wars created enormous demands for money to hire mercenary soldiers. Financial crises abounded.

The high pressure of events produced at least two financial transformations so far-reaching as to be called "revolutions." Herman van der Wee (1991b, p. 1173), the doyen of the financial history of the Spanish Netherlands, calls the transformation of short-term credit through the development of the bill of exchange a financial revolution situated somewhere between the Italian introduction of the bill of exchange in the thirteenth century and the British substitution of a rational for a chaotic system of government debt in the seventeenth century (Dickson 1967). James Tracy (1985) calls the Dutch development of a market in rentes a financial revolution not so much because of the large sums of money raised by rentes in the 1550s, but because rentes mobilized the wealth of the provinces for the first time.

France participated in these financial changes perhaps more slowly than did Britain and the rest of continental Europe. Boyer-Xambeu and her colleagues (1986, pp. 82–83) write that farming of princely and royal domains and taxes was given up in Europe in the middle of the sixteenth century, except in France, which caught up only in the eighteenth century. This lag held back the development of French banking. Coornaert (1961, vol. 2, p. 126) suggests that the French failure to keep up with the financial techniques of their competitors is perhaps connected to a cultural trait, the traditional French spirit of moderation (mesure).

Henri Hauser (1929–30, pp. 241, 255) concludes that the bankruptcies from 1557 to 1559 probably interrupted the march toward modern finance and economic growth. Van der Wee (1977, p. 391) modifies Hauser's conclusion, stating that the innovation in finance led the royal houses of Europe to follow grandiose schemes, which were disruptive in the short run but positive in the long run. This is a supply-side viewpoint. It is possible to conclude the reverse—that the grandiose schemes of the royal houses put pressure on the financial markets and led to innovations that were evident not, perhaps, in short-term commercial credit, but in the shift from bank-led to market-led capital markets.

Appendix

A game for nonprofessional historians is to note in the literature "turning points" or "decisive limits" recorded by various authors, usually in terms of a given year, decade, or event. Comparisons among them are impossible, to be sure, because the authors have different outcomes in mind. Nonetheless, a selection may be of interest:

Author	Turning Point		
Arrighi (1994, p. 125)	1557, the start of the Age of the Genoese.		
Braudel (1975, p. 941)	1556, peace between the Pope and the Duke of Alba, an important turning point for Western civilization.		
Braudel (1975, p. 1055)	"The War of Granada, A Turning Point"; 1567, the arrival of the Duke of Alba in the Netherlands.		
Ehrenberg (1928, p. 106)	1552, a turning point for Charles V and the last time the Fuggers held his fate in their hands.		
Ehrenberg (1928, p. 328)	"From about 1552 a real madness or mania for the Bourse loans of Antwerp and Lyons seized on the masses all over Europe."		
Friis (1953)	Believes that the financial crisis of 1557 was largely the result of the disastrous grain harvest in Europe in 1556; van der Wee (1963, p. 214n) is doubtful.		
Gascon (1971, p. 250)	The Grand Parti turned finance from commerce to speculation.		
Gascon (1971, p. 671)	Records the disagreement on the date of the collapse of Lyons as a dominant financial center among Ehrenberg, Doucet, and Lapeyre. Ehrenberg, paying more attention to public than to commercial credit, cites 1562; Doucet, focusing on public credit alone, gives 1575; and Lapeyre, relying on the papers of Bonvisi of Lucca, cites 1590. Gascon claims that the documents studied by Ehrenberg, Doucet, and Lapeyre are not as full as the papers of the four Lyons notaries that he used, which suggest 1575.		

Hauser (1929–30, p. 254)	The period that was opening (after 1559) was a period of economic retardation, at least for the countries that played leading parts.		
Israel (1995, chaps. 7–9)	The Dutch revolt begins in the Spanish Netherlands in 1572, after the arrival in 1567 of the Duke of Alba, who arrested 9,000 and executed 1,000, including the Counts of Egmont and Horn.		
Lapeyre (1955, p. 413)	The second phase of the religious wars in France and the Massacre of St. Bartholomew in 1572.		
Lapeyre (1955, p. 421)	1585, a critical date in western European history, with the battle of the Atlantic (with England), which lasted to the end of the century.		
Lynch (1964, p. 164)	The Treaty of Cateau-Cambrésis between Spain and France in 1559 confirmed Spain's prestige in southern Europe and its weakness in the north.		
Ramsay (1975, p. 211)	If there was a turning point in English commercial history, it was reached (in 1564) when the Merchant Adventurers transferred from Antwerp to Emden. "The long-standing supremacy of the Netherlands market for British trade was never restored."		
Ramsay (1975, p. 137)	1550, usually taken as the turning point in the movement from gold as the dominant currency in France to silver.		
Spooner (1972, p. 57)	The loans of Charles V in Antwerp and the Grand Parti in Lyons led to a breaking point during the 1550s; the Spanish bankruptcy in 1557 soon entailed bankruptcies of the Low Countries, Naples, Milan, and then, of the French monarchy.		
Vilar (1976, p. 161)	1557, the greatest crisis of the century.		
van der Wee (1963, chap. 6)	"The Decisive Years, 1520–c.1550" (chapter title).		

van der Wee The peak of south German expansion was reached during the 1520s; the final decay, during the 1550s. (1963, p. 215) van der Wee "The feverish credit boom of the fifties had also (1963, p. 221) caused a fatal crisis and a state bankruptcy in Lyons' money market, . . . the financial impulse was completely broken." van der Wee Reports that Ehrenberg and Braudel believe Lyons (1963, p. 221n) was over only in 1575 (Lapeyre, in 1589), but states that "in our view the crisis of 1557 broke the expansion for good." van der Wee The political crisis of the 1550s caused Antwerp's (1963, p. 432) foundation to disintegrate and killed its supremacy in the financial market. Commerce flourished after 1559, and Antwerp revived. "But it was no use. The crisis of the mid-1560s was a definite turning point."

References

- Arrighi, Giovanni, The Long Twentieth Century: Money, Power and the Origin of our Times, London, Verso, 1994.
- Attman, Artur, American Bullion in the European World Trade, 1600–1800, translated from the German by Eva and Allan Green, Göteberg, Kungl. Vetenskaps-och Vitterhets-Samhället, 1986.
- Aymard, Maurice, Venise, Raguse et le commerce du blé pendant le seconde moitié du XVI^e siècle, Paris, S.E.V.P.E.N., 1956.
- Bergier, Jean-François, "From the 15th Century in Italy to the 16th Century in Germany: A New Banking Concept," in Center for Medieval and Renaissance Studies, *The Dawn of Modern Banking*, New Haven, Yale University Press, 1979, pp. 106–129.
- Berthe, Jean-Pierre, "Les Flamands à Seville au 16^e siècle," in Hermann Kellenbenz, ed., *Fremden Kaufleute auf der Iberischen Halbinsel*, Cologne and Vienna, Bühlau, 1970, pp. 239–251.
- Boorstin, Daniel J., The Discoverers: A History of Man's Search to Know His World and Himself, New York, Vintage Books, 1985.
- Borah, Woodrow W., Early Colonial Trade and Navigation between Mexico and Peru, Berkeley and Los Angeles, University of California Press, 1954.
- Boyer-Xambeu, Marie-Therèse, Ghislain Deleplace, and Lucien Gillard, *Monnaie privée et pouvoir des princes*, Paris, Presses de la fondation nationale des sciences politiques, 1986 (abbreviated English ed., Armonk, N.Y., M. E. Sharpe, 1994).
- Brandi, Karl, *The Emperor Charles V: The Growth and Destiny of a Man and a World-Empire*, translated from the German by C.V. Wedgwood, London, Jonathan Cape, 1939.
- Braudel, Fernand, *The Mediterranean and the Mediterranean World in the Age of Philip II*, 2 vols., translated from the French by Sian Reynolds, New York, Harper and Row, 1972 and 1975 (reprint ed., Berkeley and Los Angeles, University of California Press, 1996).
- Braudel, Fernand, and Frank C. Spooner, "Les métaux monetaires de l'économie du XVI^{eme} siècle," *Extract of Relazioni del Congresso Internazionale de Science Storische*, vol. 4, Storia Moderna, Florence, G. C. Sansoni, 1955, pp. 23–64.
- Challis, Christopher E., *The Tudor Coinage*, Manchester, Manchester University Press, 1978.
- Coornaert, Emile, Les Français et le commerce international à Anvers, 2 vols., Paris, Marcel Rivière, 1961.
- Crouzet, François, "Economie et société (1715–1789)," in François-Georges Pariset, ed., *Bordeaux au XVIII*^{eme} siècle, Bordeaux, Federation Historique du Sudouest, 1968, pp. 193–286.
- Day, John, "The Great Bullion Famine of the Fifteenth Century," in Day, *The Medieval Market Economy*, Oxford and New York, Blackwell, 1987, pp. 1–54.

- de Roover, Raymond, Gresham on Foreign Exchange: An Essay on Early English Mercantilism, Cambridge, Mass., Harvard University Press, 1949.
- ——, "Thomas Mun in Italy," Bulletin of the Institute of Historical Research, 30, (May 1957) pp. 80–85.
- Dickson, Peter G.M., The Financial Revolution in England: A Study in the Development of Public Credit, 1686–1756, New York, St. Martin's, 1967.
- Doucet, Roger, "Le Grand Parti de Lyon au XVI siècle," parts 1 and 2, *Revue Historique*, 171, no. 3 (May-June 1933), pp. 472–513, and no. 4 (July-August 1933), pp. 1–41.
- Ehrenberg, Richard, Capital and Finance in the Age of the Renaissance: A Study of the Fuggers and Their Connections, translated from the German by H. M. Lucas, New York, Harcourt, Brace, 1928 (reprint ed., Fairfield, N.J., Augustus M. Kelly, 1985).
- Fernandez de Pinedo, Emiliano, "Credit et banque en Castille aux XVIe et XVIIe siècles," in Giuseppe Felloni, ed., Banchi pubblici, banchi privati e monti di pietá nell'Europa preindustriale: atti del convegno, Genova 1–6 ottobre 1990, vol. 2, Genoa, Societá ligure di storia patria, 1991, pp. 1037–1050.
- Fischer, David Hackett, *The Great Wave: Price Revolutions and the Rhythm of History*, Oxford and New York, Oxford University Press, 1996.
- Friis, Astrid, "An Inquiry into the Relations Between Economic and Financial Factors in the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries, [Part] I: Two Crises in the Netherlands in 1557," *Scandinavian Economic History Review*, 1 (No. 2, 1953), pp. 191–241.
- Gascon, Richard, Grand commerce et vie urbaine au XVI^e siècle: Lyon et ses marchands, 2 vols., Paris, S.E.V.P.E.N., 1971.
- Gould, J. D., The Great Debasement: Currency and the Economy in Mid-Tudor England, Oxford, Clarendon, 1970.
- Hamilton, Earl J., American Treasure and the Price Revolution in Spain, 1501–1650, Cambridge, Mass., Harvard University Press, 1934 (reprint ed., New York, Octagon Books, 1965).
- Hauser, Henri, "The European Financial Crisis of 1559," Journal of Economic and Business History, 2 (1929–30), pp. 211–255.
- Hildebrand, Reinhard, "Banking System and Capital Market in South Germany, 1450–1650," in Giuseppe Felloni, ed., Banchi pubblici, banchi privati e monti di pietá nell'Europa preindustriale: atti del convegno, Genova 1–6 ottobre 1990, vol. 2, Genoa, Societá ligure di storia patria, 1991, pp. 829–842.
- Israel, Jonathan I., *The Dutch Republic: Its Rise, Greatness and Fall, 1477–1800*, Oxford, Clarendon, 1995.
- Kellenbenz, Hermann, Die Fuggersche Maestrazgopacht, 1525–1542: Zur Geschichte der Spanische Rittenorden in 16. Jahrhundert, Tübingen, J.C.B. Mohr (Paul Siebeck), 1967.
- ——, ed., Fremden Kaufleute auf der Iberischen Halbinsel, Cologne and Vienna, Bühlau, 1970.
- Kindleberger, Charles P., *The World in Depression*, 1929–1939, 2nd ed., Berkeley, University of California Press, 1986.

- ——, A Financial History of Western Europe, 2nd ed., New York, Oxford University Press, 1993.
- ———, "The Economic Crisis of 1619 to 1623," in Kindleberger, World Economy and National Finance in Historical Perspective, Ann Arbor, University of Michigan Press, 1995, pp. 201–229.
- ———, Manias, Panics, and Crashes: A History of Financial Crises, 3rd ed., New York, Wiley, 1996.
- ——, "Les marchands étrangers au royaume de Valence aux XV^e et XVI^e siècles," in Hermann Kellenbenz, ed., *Fremden Kaufleute auf der Iberischen Halbinsel*, Cologne and Vienna, Bühlau, 1970, pp. 100–117.
- Le Roy Ladurie, *The Beggar and the Professor: A Sixteenth-Century Family Saga*, translated from the French by Arthur Goldhammer, Chicago, University of Chicago Press, 1997.
- Lynch, John, Spain under the Hapsburgs, Vol. 1: Empire and Absolutism, 1516–1598, New York, Oxford University Press, 1964.
- Morineau, Michel, Incroyable gazettes et fabuleux métaux: Les retours americaines d'après les gazettes hollandaises XVI^e–XVIII^e siècles, London and New York, Cambridge University Press; Paris, Maison des sciences de l'homme, 1985.
- North, Michael, Geldumlauf und Wirtschaftskonjunktur in südlichen Ostseeraum an der Wende zur Neuzeit (1440–1570), Siegmaringen, Jan Thorbecke, 1990.
- ——, "Banking and Credit in Northern Germany in the Fifteenth and Sixteenth Centuries," in Giuseppe Felloni, ed., *Banchi pubblici, banchi privati e monti di pietá nell'Europa preindustriale: atti del convegno, Genova 1–6 ottobre 1990*, vol. 2, Genoa, Societá ligure di storia patria, 1991, pp. 811–826.
- ——, Das Geld und seine Geschichte, vom Mittelalter bis zum Gegenwart, Munich, C. H. Beck, 1994.
- Outhwaite, Richard B., *Inflation in Tudor and Early Stuart England*, London, Macmillan, 1969 (2nd ed., 1982).
- Parker, Geoffrey, The Army of Flanders and the Spanish Road, 1567–1659: The Logistics of Victory and Defeat in the Low Countries' Wars, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1972.
- Ramsay, George D., The City of London in International Politics at the Accession of Elizabeth Tudor, Manchester, Manchester University Press, 1975.
- Sarcinelli, Mario, "The Italian Financial System in the Mid-1990s: A Difficult Transition," *Banca Nazionale del Lavoro Quarterly Review*, 49 (March 1996), pp. 3–35.
- Schnapper, Bernard, Les rentes au XVI^e siècle: Histoire d'un instrument de crédit, Paris, S.E.V.P.E.N, 1957.

- Spooner, Frank C., The International Economy and Monetary Movements in France, 1493–1725, Cambridge, Mass., Harvard University Press, 1972.
- Steele, Mark, "Bankruptcy and Insolvency: Bank Failure and Its Control in Pre-Industrial Europe," in Giuseppe Felloni, ed., *Banchi pubblici, banchi privati e monti di pietá nell'Europa preindustriale: atti del convegno, Genova 1–6 ottobre 1990*, vol. 1, Genoa, Societá ligure di storia patria, 1991, pp. 183–204.
- Tinoco Rubiales, Santiago, "Banca privada y poder municipal en ciudad se Seville (Siglo XVI)," in Giuseppe Felloni, ed., Banchi pubblici, banchi privati e monti di pietá nell'Europa preindustriale: atti del convegno, Genova 1–6 ottobre 1990, vol. 2, Genoa, Societá ligure di storia patria, 1991, pp. 1053–1133.
- Tracy, James D., A Financial Revolution in the Habsburg Netherlands: Renten and Renteniers in the Country of Holland, 1515–1565, Berkeley, University of California Press, 1985.
- van der Wee, Herman, The Growth of the Antwerp Market and the European Economy (Fourteenth-Sixteenth Centuries), vol. 2, The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1963.
- ——, "Money, Credit and Banking Systems," in *Cambridge Economic History of Europe*, vol. 5 (E. E. Rich and C. H. Wilson, eds.), *The Economic Organization of Early Modern Europe*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1977, chap. 5.
- ——, "Les banques européennes au moyen âge et pendant les temps modernes (1476–1789)," in Herman van der Wee, Raymond Bogaert, and Ginette Kurgan-van Hentenryk, *La banque en Occident*, Antwerp, Fonds Mercator, 1991a, pp. 71–264.
- ——, "The Medieval and Early Modern Origins of European Banking," in Giuseppe Felloni, ed., *Banchi pubblici, banchi privati e monti di pietá nell'Europa preindustriale: atti del convegno, Genova 1–6 ottobre 1990*, vol. 2, Genoa, Societá ligure di storia patria, 1991b, pp. 1159–1173.
- van Houtte, J.A., An Economic History of the Low Countries, 800–1800, London, Weidenfeld and Nicolson; New York, St. Martin's, 1977.
- Vilar, Pierre, A History of Gold and Money, 1450 to 1920, translated from the Spanish by Judith White, London and New York, New Left Books, Verso, 1976 (reprint ed., 1991).

PUBLICATIONS OF THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

Notice to Contributors

The International Finance Section publishes papers in four series: ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE, PRINCETON STUDIES IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE, and SPECIAL PAPERS IN INTERNATIONAL ECONOMICS contain new work not published elsewhere. REPRINTS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE reproduce journal articles previously published by Princeton faculty members associated with the Section. The Section welcomes the submission of manuscripts for publication under the following guidelines:

ESSAYS are meant to disseminate new views about international financial matters and should be accessible to well-informed nonspecialists as well as to professional economists. Technical terms, tables, and charts should be used sparingly; mathematics should be avoided.

STUDIES are devoted to new research on international finance, with preference given to empirical work. They should be comparable in originality and technical proficiency to papers published in leading economic journals. They should be of medium length, longer than a journal article but shorter than a book.

SPECIAL PAPERS are surveys of research on particular topics and should be suitable for use in undergraduate courses. They may be concerned with international trade as well as international finance. They should also be of medium length.

Manuscripts should be submitted in triplicate, typed single sided and double spaced throughout on 8½ by 11 white bond paper. Publication can be expedited if manuscripts are computer keyboarded in WordPerfect or a compatible program. Additional instructions and a style guide are available from the Section.

How to Obtain Publications

The Section's publications are distributed free of charge to college, university, and public libraries and to nongovernmental, nonprofit research institutions. Eligible institutions may ask to be placed on the Section's permanent mailing list.

Individuals and institutions not qualifying for free distribution may receive all publications for the calendar year for a subscription fee of \$40.00. Late subscribers will receive all back issues for the year during which they subscribe. Subscribers should notify the Section promptly of any change in address, giving the old address as well as the new.

Publications may be ordered individually, with payment made in advance. ESSAYS and REPRINTS cost \$9.00 each; STUDIES and SPECIAL PAPERS cost \$12.50. An additional \$1.50 should be sent for postage and handling within the United States, Canada, and Mexico; \$1.75 should be added for surface delivery outside the region.

All payments must be made in U.S. dollars. Subscription fees and charges for single issues will be waived for organizations and individuals in countries where foreign-exchange regulations prohibit dollar payments.

Please address all correspondence, submissions, and orders to:

International Finance Section Department of Economics, Fisher Hall Princeton University Princeton, New Jersey 08544-1021

List of Recent Publications

A complete list of publications may be obtained from the International Finance Section.

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- 172. Jack M. Guttentag and Richard M. Herring, Accounting for Losses On Sovereign Debt: Implications for New Lending. (May 1989)
- 173. Benjamin J. Cohen, Developing-Country Debt: A Middle Way. (May 1989)
- 174. Jeffrey D. Sachs, New Approaches to the Latin American Debt Crisis. (July 1989)
- 175. C. David Finch, The IMF: The Record and the Prospect. (September 1989)
- 176. Graham Bird, Loan-Loss Provisions and Third-World Debt. (November 1989)
- 177. Ronald Findlay, The "Triangular Trade" and the Atlantic Economy of the Eighteenth Century: A Simple General-Equilibrium Model. (March 1990)
- 178. Alberto Giovannini, *The Transition to European Monetary Union*. (November 1990)
- 179. Michael L. Mussa, Exchange Rates in Theory and in Reality. (December 1990)
- 180. Warren L. Coats, Jr., Reinhard W. Furstenberg, and Peter Isard, *The SDR System and the Issue of Resource Transfers*. (December 1990)
- George S. Tavlas, On the International Use of Currencies: The Case of the Deutsche Mark. (March 1991)
- 182. Tommaso Padoa-Schioppa, ed., with Michael Emerson, Kumiharu Shigehara, and Richard Portes, Europe After 1992: Three Essays. (May 1991)
- Michael Bruno, High Inflation and the Nominal Anchors of an Open Economy. (June 1991)
- 184. Jacques J. Polak, The Changing Nature of IMF Conditionality. (September 1991)
- 185. Ethan B. Kapstein, Supervising International Banks: Origins and Implications of the Basle Accord. (December 1991)
- 186. Alessandro Giustiniani, Francesco Papadia, and Daniela Porciani, Growth and Catch-Up in Central and Eastern Europe: Macroeconomic Effects on Western Countries. (April 1992)
- 187. Michele Fratianni, Jürgen von Hagen, and Christopher Waller, *The Maastricht Way to EMU*. (June 1992)
- 188. Pierre-Richard Agénor, Parallel Currency Markets in Developing Countries: Theory, Evidence, and Policy Implications. (November 1992)
- 189. Beatriz Armendariz de Aghion and John Williamson, *The G-7's Joint-and-Several Blunder*. (April 1993)
- Paul Krugman, What Do We Need to Know About the International Monetary System? (July 1993)
- Peter M. Garber and Michael G. Spencer, The Dissolution of the Austro-Hungarian Empire: Lessons for Currency Reform. (February 1994)
- 192. Raymond F. Mikesell, The Bretton Woods Debates: A Memoir. (March 1994)
- 193. Graham Bird, Economic Assistance to Low-Income Countries: Should the Link be Resurrected? (July 1994)
- 194. Lorenzo Bini-Smaghi, Tommaso Padoa-Schioppa, and Francesco Papadia, The Transition to EMU in the Maastricht Treaty. (November 1994)

- 195. Ariel Buira, Reflections on the International Monetary System. (January 1995)
- Shinji Takagi, From Recipient to Donor: Japan's Official Aid Flows, 1945 to 1990 and Beyond. (March 1995)
- 197. Patrick Conway, Currency Proliferation: The Monetary Legacy of the Soviet Union. (June 1995)
- 198. Barry Eichengreen, A More Perfect Union? The Logic of Economic Integration. (June 1996)
- 199. Peter B. Kenen, ed., with John Arrowsmith, Paul De Grauwe, Charles A. E. Goodhart, Daniel Gros, Luigi Spaventa, and Niels Thygesen, *Making EMU Happen—Problems and Proposals: A Symposium*. (August 1996)
- 200. Peter B. Kenen, ed., with Lawrence H. Summers, William R. Cline, Barry Eichengreen, Richard Portes, Arminio Fraga, and Morris Goldstein, From Halifax to Lyons: What Has Been Done about Crisis Management? (October 1996)
- 201. Louis W. Pauly, The League of Nations and the Foreshadowing of the International Monetary Fund. (December 1996)
- 202. Harold James, Monetary and Fiscal Unification in Nineteenth-Century Germany: What Can Kohl Learn from Bismarck? (March 1997)
- 203. Andrew Crockett, The Theory and Practice of Financial Stability. (April 1997)
- 204. Benjamin J. Cohen, The Financial Support Fund of the OECD: A Failed Initiative. (June 1997)
- 205. Robert N. McCauley, The Euro and the Dollar. (November 1997)
- 206. Thomas Laubach and Adam S. Posen, Disciplined Discretion: Monetary Targeting in Germany and Switzerland. (December 1997)
- 207. Stanley Fischer, Richard N. Cooper, Rudiger Dornbusch, Peter M. Garber, Carlos Massad, Jacques J. Polak, Dani Rodrik, and Savak S. Tarapore, *Should the IMF Pursue Capital-Account Convertibility*? (May 1998)
- 208. Charles P. Kindleberger, Economic and Financial Crises and Transformations in Sixteenth-Century Europe. (June 1998)

PRINCETON STUDIES IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- 63. Jacob A. Frenkel and Assaf Razin, Spending, Taxes, and Deficits: International-Intertemporal Approach. (December 1988)
- 64. Jeffrey A. Frankel, Obstacles to International Macroeconomic Policy Coordination. (December 1988)
- 65. Peter Hooper and Catherine L. Mann, The Emergence and Persistence of the U.S. External Imbalance, 1980-87. (October 1989)
- 66. Helmut Reisen, Public Debt, External Competitiveness, and Fiscal Discipline in Developing Countries. (November 1989)
- 67. Victor Argy, Warwick McKibbin, and Eric Siegloff, Exchange-Rate Regimes for a Small Economy in a Multi-Country World. (December 1989)
- 68. Mark Gersovitz and Christina H. Paxson, *The Economies of Africa and the Prices of Their Exports*. (October 1990)
- 69. Felipe Larraín and Andrés Velasco, Can Swaps Solve the Debt Crisis? Lessons from the Chilean Experience. (November 1990)
- 70. Kaushik Basu, The International Debt Problem, Credit Rationing and Loan Pushing: Theory and Experience. (October 1991)

- 71. Daniel Gros and Alfred Steinherr, Economic Reform in the Soviet Union: Pas de Deux between Disintegration and Macroeconomic Destabilization. (November 1991)
- 72. George M. von Furstenberg and Joseph P. Daniels, Economic Summit Declarations, 1975-1989: Examining the Written Record of International Cooperation. (February 1992)
- 73. Ishac Diwan and Dani Rodrik, External Debt, Adjustment, and Burden Sharing: A Unified Framework. (November 1992)
- 74. Barry Eichengreen, Should the Maastricht Treaty Be Saved? (December 1992)
- 75. Adam Klug, The German Buybacks, 1932-1939: A Cure for Overhang? (November 1993)
- 76. Tamim Bayoumi and Barry Eichengreen, One Money or Many? Analyzing the Prospects for Monetary Unification in Various Parts of the World. (September 1994)
- 77. Edward E. Leamer, The Heckscher-Ohlin Model in Theory and Practice. (February 1995)
- 78. Thorvaldur Gylfason, The Macroeconomics of European Agriculture. (May 1995)
- 79. Angus S. Deaton and Ronald I. Miller, International Commodity Prices, Macroeconomic Performance, and Politics in Sub-Saharan Africa. (December 1995)
- 80. Chander Kant, Foreign Direct Investment and Capital Flight. (April 1996)
- 81. Gian Maria Milesi-Ferretti and Assaf Razin, Current-Account Sustainability. (October 1996)
- 82. Pierre-Richard Agénor, Capital-Market Imperfections and the Macroeconomic Dynamics of Small Indebted Economies. (June 1997)
- 83. Michael Bowe and James W. Dean, Has the Market Solved the Sovereign-Debt Crisis? (August 1997)
- 84. Willem H. Buiter, Giancarlo M. Corsetti, and Paolo A. Pesenti, *Interpreting the ERM Crisis: Country-Specific and Systemic Issues* (March 1998)

SPECIAL PAPERS IN INTERNATIONAL ECONOMICS

- 16. Elhanan Helpman, Monopolistic Competition in Trade Theory. (June 1990)
- 17. Richard Pomfret, International Trade Policy with Imperfect Competition. (August 1992)
- 18. Hali J. Edison, The Effectiveness of Central-Bank Intervention: A Survey of the Literature After 1982. (July 1993)
- 19. Sylvester W.C. Eijffinger and Jakob De Haan, *The Political Economy of Central-Bank Independence*. (May 1996)

REPRINTS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- 28. Peter B. Kenen, Ways to Reform Exchange-Rate Arrangements; reprinted from Bretton Woods: Looking to the Future, 1994. (November 1994)
- 29. Peter B. Kenen, *Sorting Out Some EMU Issues*; reprinted from Jean Monnet Chair Paper 38, Robert Schuman Centre, European University Institute, 1996. (December 1996)

The work of the International Finance Section is supported in part by the income of the Walker Foundation, established in memory of James Theodore Walker, Class of 1927. The offices of the Section, in Fisher Hall, were provided by a generous grant from Merrill Lynch & Company.